

Open Access Repository

www.ssoar.info

Collaborative Ethnography With Social Movements: Key Dimensions and Challenges

Arribas Lozano, Alberto

Veröffentlichungsversion / Published Version Zeitschriftenartikel / journal article

Empfohlene Zitierung / Suggested Citation:

Arribas Lozano, A. (2022). Collaborative Ethnography With Social Movements: Key Dimensions and Challenges. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 23(3). https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-23.3.3908

Nutzungsbedingungen:

Dieser Text wird unter einer CC BY Lizenz (Namensnennung) zur Verfügung gestellt. Nähere Auskünfte zu den CC-Lizenzen finden Sie hier:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/deed.de

Terms of use:

This document is made available under a CC BY Licence (Attribution). For more Information see: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0







Collaborative Ethnography With Social Movements: Key Dimensions and Challenges

Alberto Arribas Lozano

Key words:
collaborative
ethnography;
social movement
studies;
movementrelevant theory;
co-analysis; cotheorization;
research
collaboration;
knowledge coproduction;
engaged research

Abstract: In this article, I explore collaborative ethnography as a means to bridge theory and practice, knowledge and action, in social movement research, and to produce knowledge that is relevant and useful both inside and outside academia. For this purpose, I will present a group of interconnected dimensions and challenges that shape the practice of research collaboration with social movements: a situated, artisanal and experimental ethos regarding method and outcomes; elements of shared authority, co-decision, co-analysis, and co-theorization in fieldwork; the decentered role of scholars; the tension between academic and extra-academic relevance; the link between trust, access, and collaboration; epistemic and methodological questions of writing and representation; the significance of time for weaving and sustaining collaboration; and the ways in which the actors involved relate to knowledge-practices and theory production. These eight dimensions illustrate how ethnographic collaboration takes place (or fails to materialize) in actual research projects, highlighting elements that will facilitate or hinder the co-production of knowledge with our co-researchers.

Table of Contents

- 1. Introduction: The Threefold Goals of Collaborative Ethnography
- 2. Delimiting Research Collaboration
- 3. Collaborative Ethnography as Part of an Ecology of Action Research Methodologies
- 4. The Question of Relevance in Social Movement Research
- $\underline{\textbf{5.}}$ Key Dimensions and Challenges in Collaborative Research
 - <u>5.1</u> Collaboration, experimentation, and research as an artisanal and situated praxis
 - 5.2 On power and (a)symmetry: Towards logic and practices of co-decision
 - 5.3 The art of decentering oneself: The role of the scholar in collaborative projects
 - 5.4 Scales of relevance and responsibility: Standing inside/outside academia
 - 5.5 Who wants to collaborate in research? Proposal, trust, access
 - 5.6 On representation: Who eventually gets to write about whom?
 - $\underline{\textbf{5.7}}$ Diverging temporalities: The art of weaving and sustaining collaboration
 - $\underline{\textbf{5.8}}$ Is it possible to collaborate with every kind of actor/group/community?
- 6. Conclusion

References

Author

Citation

1. Introduction: The Threefold Goals of Collaborative Ethnography

In this article, I portray collaborative ethnography as the process of working and thinking together with social movement activists as co-researchers around jointly established agendas or problems. This preliminary definition raises several questions that will be addressed through the paper. Can research projects be designed around the topics, concerns, and needs posed by social movement organizations, instead of (solely) around disciplinary interests? Is it possible to bridge theory and practice in/through research? Can researchers foster a dialogue between different types of knowledge, and between academic and non-academic knowledge producers? What ethical and methodological challenges arise in this engagement? [1]

The goals of collaborative research are threefold. First, in scholarly terms, ethnographic collaboration generates empirically grounded analysis, conceptual and theoretical innovation that will advance our understanding of the topic of study, as well as providing novel insights and questions for future research. Thus, in the project I undertook with the Network of Offices for Social Rights (ODSs), a network of urban activists organized around issues of precarity and migrant struggles, the process of engaging in critical dialogue with the activists as coresearchers and creating mechanisms for co-analysis and co-theorization, allowed me to explore the emerging logic and practices of collective action, producing a detailed ethnographic account of the redefinition of grassroots political activism in Spain (ARRIBAS LOZANO, 2018a, 2020). Likewise, a more recent research project designed and undertaken with the Andean Project for Peasant Technologies (PRATEC), and the Andean Nuclei for Cultural Affirmation (NACAs), a Peruvian community-based network devoted to Andean cultural affirmation and the revitalization of Andean-Amazonian knowledges and ways of knowing, allowed me to rethink critically and to produce new empirical knowledge —from the point of view of the communities themselves, thinking with them—in relation to notions and practices of interculturality, epistemic diversity and Andean and Amazonian educational cultures (ARRIBAS LOZANO, 2021). [2]

Secondly, collaborative research makes social science directly relevant and useful for the social movements or communities we work with. Knowledge coproduction incorporates those actors usually targeted as informants into the joint design and implementation of the research project/process, which will therefore respond to their own questions and challenges, aims and interests. Through practices of collective deliberation and reciprocity, co-analysis and co-theorization in fieldwork, these undertakings bring forth different types of outputs that our coresearchers will be able to use as they see fit to advance their own projects and struggles, e.g., informing future actions of the movement, helping restructure its internal organization, redefining its strategies and alliances, generating new campaigns, and so forth (JURIS, 2007). Thus, the fact that research collaboration operates "simultaneously on the political level and at the level of ethnographic analysis" (RAPPAPORT, 2008, p.4) explains why and how our academic research can become relevant and productive for social movements, building "reenchantment bridges" (RAHMAN & FALS BORDA, 1991, p.32) between research

and action and between academic and non-academic knowledges and knowledge producers. Hence, collaborative research—engaged qualitative research in general—allows scholars to explore and emphasize the contribution of social science to popular struggles and social movements, as well as the contribution of social movements and popular struggles to the formation of new social science knowledge. I will later explain how *relevance* materialized in my work with PRATEC and the ODSs. [3]

Finally, collaborative research projects often engage with salient epistemic and methodological debates in social science, specifically in relation to the ethics and politics of knowledge production and validation. Cultivating "Collaborative Analytics" (BOYER & MARCUS, 2020) may contribute to rethinking and reshaping sociological or anthropological thought and practice. As an example of this kind of intra-disciplinary intervention, together with colleagues from the University of Veracruz, Mexico, and the University of Granada, Spain, I co-edited a volume with 14 chapters written by scholars based in universities and research centers in the United States, Mexico, Aotearoa/New Zealand, and Spain, who work with social movements employing collaborative ethnography, decolonial approaches, feminist methodologies, or participatory action research (ÁLVAREZ VEINGUER, ARRIBAS LOZANO & DIETZ, 2020). The process of putting this volume together, which was published in open access by the Latin American Council of Social Sciences (CLACSO), created the space for researchers from these different epistemic, theoretical, and methodological traditions to listen to each other; to discuss how they problematize and challenge more traditional understandings of knowledge production; to explore what they share and what is particular and distinctive in each case; as well as to reflect on the possibilities for cross-fertilization between them as a way to expand the creativity and relevance of our work beyond academic settings. [4]

Certainly, collaboration between scholars and their research partners is not new to social science, let alone in ethnographically informed projects. As I will further elaborate in this article, what is distinctive today is the resignification of collaboration in research, its renewed centrality as a means to reimagine and redefine knowledge-making in qualitative social science. There is an *amplified understanding of collaboration* (LASSITER, HOEY & CAMPBELL, 2020) that changes profoundly the purpose and nature, the imagination and materiality of the fieldwork encounter. [5]

In this context, drawing upon my own research experience and a critical reading of existing literature, and keeping in mind the threefold goals of collaborative frameworks outlined above, in this paper I systematize eight core dimensions, eight ideas/coordinates that need to be considered by scholars wishing to explore the opportunities and challenges as well as the promises and pitfalls of research collaboration with social movements. The systematization that I propose and discuss here is a key contribution to ongoing academic debates about collaborative frameworks. [6]

For this purpose, I begin with an overview of the changing landscape of research collaboration in academia today (Section 2). After that, I bring collaborative ethnography with social movements into dialogue with other well-established traditions and genealogies of engaged research; I will also elaborate on the question of relevance in social movement research, as well as on the challenge of generating movement-relevant theory (Sections 3-4). I then put forward the eight dimensions/coordinates which, without claiming to be exhaustive, summarize the grammar of collaboration in research. Through these dimensions I will illustrate how ethnographic collaboration takes place (or fails to materialize) in practice, also highlighting the elements that facilitate or hinder knowledge coproduction with co-researchers (Section 5). This discussion, which I consider to be the major contribution of this paper, will be followed by a conclusion (Section 6). [7]

2. Delimiting Research Collaboration

Collaboration is everywhere in contemporary academia. There is an expanding "enthusiasm for collaboration" (RILES, 2015, p.148), to the extent that it is often unclear what this ubiquitous concept of *collaboration* might mean anymore. I am aware of its polysemic and sometimes problematic character. I cannot elaborate here on the different understandings and modes of collaboration being articulated in universities today, encouraged by research funding policies: bringing together scholars across disciplinary boundaries, and/or from different countries; or involving non-academic partners and communities (BOYER & MARCUS, 2020; CORNISH, ZITTOUN & GILLESPIE, 2007; LAMPHERE, 2004; VON KÖPPEN, KÜMPERS & HAHN, 2022). [8]

Today, collaboration is deliberately and explicitly explored at every point in the ethnographic process, from formulating problems to the dissemination of findings; together, scholars and research-subjects/collaborators define what knowledge should be produced, how and for what purposes, and they carry out collective analysis and theorization. Along these lines, according to Douglas R. HOLMES and George E. MARCUS (2008, p.86),

"[w]e have no interest in collaboration as a 'division of labor' among the investigators who control the design of a project, or as the basis for blending academic expertise, or as a gesture to a canonical interdisciplinarity. The point is, again, to integrate fully our subjects' analytical acumen and insights to define the issues at stake in our projects as well as the means by which we explore them." [9]

As mentioned earlier, I understand collaborative research as the process of working and thinking together *with* our co-researchers—in my case, social movement activists—around jointly conceived agendas, bridging knowledge co-production and social movement action, and articulating research in ways that can be relevant and useful within and beyond academia. *Thinking together with* our co-researchers means that their questions, concerns, reflexivity, and knowledge-practices will be fully integrated into the design and the implementation of the research project, process, and products. This converts

fieldwork from a time/space of data collection to a time/space for cultivating processes of *co-analysis*, *co-conceptualization*, and *co-theorization* (RAPPAPORT, 2008). For this purpose, collaborative research requires creating and nurturing an ecology/assemblage of—often experimental—relationships of sustained dialogue, negotiation, and mutual learning at every stage of the process. [10]

Ethnographic collaboration is always in the making. It must be understood as an open-ended dialogue of reflexivities, *a recursive chain of interconnected conversations* (RAPPAPORT, 2016) distributed across fieldwork/time/people in which adjustments to the project, and further interpretation and analysis, are continuously taking place. This process allows scholars to move away from the mindset and practices of "Epistemic Extractivism" (GROSFOGUEL, 2020), and towards relations of care, reciprocity, and shared authority in research—healing research relations and purpose; and healing communities in/through research as well, including the academic community itself, often cynical and damaged, who will surely laugh at this idea. Again, the goal is to create knowledge that will be empirically grounded, conceptual and theoretically innovative, and most importantly, valuable for both the scholars and the social movements, communities, or organizations involved (ESCOBAR, 1992; SPEED, 2008; ARRIBAS LOZANO, DIETZ & ALVAREZ VEINGUER, 2020). [11]

The bridge between knowledge/research and social transformation underlying this proposal is clear. I have emphasized elsewhere the limitations of traditional understandings of public sociology; in particular, the need to move beyond a dissemination model of public sociology, the unidirectional diffusion of "expert knowledge" to extra-academic audiences, and towards a more collaborative understanding of knowledge production (ARRIBAS LOZANO, 2018b). My argument is that, for knowledge/research to matter, it must be connected to (embedded in) actual collective struggles and/or movements for social justice. The notion that scholarship in and of itself, if sophisticated and critical enough, will have an effect on reality—the illusion of the knowledge effect—is untenable. Isolated from larger social agency, the analysis of the logic and mechanisms of domination, injustice and violence, the "sociology of outrage" (COX, 2014, p.956), becomes futile. If the multiple manifestations of capitalism, heteropatriarchy, and colonialism/racism could be dismantled by denunciation, they would have disappeared long ago—"barbarism doesn't fear critique" (STENGERS, 2015, p.110). Sociological imagination and political imagination need to be combined and nourished by connecting our research to the collective efforts undertaken by social movements, organizations, and communities. [12]

However, I am equally critical of superficial notions of horizontality in research, celebratory accounts that overlook the complexities of knowledge co-production with social movements. Within collaborative frameworks, the many tensions and contradictions that arise in/through research are neither denied nor disregarded; instead, they are directly dealt with in dialogue with our collaborators (HALE, 2008; LEYVA & SPEED, 2008). Furthermore, tensions are conceived of as a constitutive dimension of the analytical process; every agreement or solution is

understood to be, by definition, temporary, provisional, always open to further negotiation. [13]

3. Collaborative Ethnography as Part of an Ecology of Action Research Methodologies

Collaborative research is part of, and builds on, a larger project in the social sciences, past and present (LASSITER, 2008). Collaboration belongs to a heterogeneous tradition/lineage, a community of ideas and *ways of doing qualitative research*, pioneered by scholars from a broad range of backgrounds: participatory action research (FALS BORDA & RAHMAN, 1991; HALL, 1992, 2005; RAPPAPORT, 2020); indigenous and decolonial methodologies (CHILISA, 2012; ESPINOSA, GÓMEZ & OCHOA, 2014; KOVACH, 2009; SMITH, 1999); feminist research (HARAWAY, 1988; HARDING, 1987; NAPLES, 2003; STANLEY, 1990); community-based research (CAINE & MILL, 2016; DOSSA & GOLUBOVIĆ, 2018; ISRAEL, SCHULZ, PARKER & BECKER, 1998); and activist or militant ethnography (GRAEBER, 2009; HALE, 2008; JURIS & KHASNABISH, 2013; SHUKAITIS & GRAEBER, 2007), among others. [14]

In this sense, collaborative ethnography needs to be located within this ecology/tradition of engaged research possibilities. It is part of what Jenny PEARCE (2008, p.2) termed "the participatory methodologies family and their epistemological quest," an ecology/family whose members "share much in common, despite distinct starting points and origins" (2008, p.3). Certainly, these epistemic and methodological traditions are not identical. Historically they emerged from particular genealogies, territories and bodies/communities. They are connected to and deal with specific sets of social problems and struggles. They have produced distinctive theoretical and conceptual contributions, and they exist at different levels of institutionalization and professionalization within academia. It is beyond the scope of this article to spell out these differences; however, it is crucial to emphasize that the components of this ecology/family are not interchangeable. That means that neither feminist nor collaborative frameworks are necessarily decolonial or that collaborative research is not always activist/militant, and so forth. [15]

Nevertheless, while being distinct, researchers working within these traditions and practices have at least six significant elements in common:

- They problematize the politics of knowledge production, destabilizing and transforming the definition/classification of what counts as valid knowledge and theory;
- 2. they place methodological debates within larger epistemic considerations, and this process, as Patricia Hill COLLINS (2019, p.142) has argued, "makes the relationship of epistemology, methodology, and power relations more transparent";
- 3. they raise critical questions about what the purpose of research is, who it is useful for, whose knowledge is taken seriously, and who we write for and how;

- 4. they are grounded in dialogical and reciprocal engagements with the research subjects as collaborators/co-researchers, whose concerns, questions and reflexivity inform the research design and implementation;
- 5. they undertake methodological innovation/experimentation as a way to achieve their objectives; and,
- 6. they are driven by a commitment to social transformation. [16]

Scholars working within this ecology of action research methodologies, these engaged frameworks of thought and research, have much to offer as well as to learn from each other. As an example, PEARCE (2008, p.6) argued that researchers using methodologies that emerged in the Global South—participative action research (PAR), participatory rural appraisal (PRA), or participatory learning and action (PLA)—aptly challenged the Eurocentrism of many Northern scholars involved in different forms of action research. In turn, feminist researchers North and South challenged many PAR/PRA/PLA scholars to acknowledge and address their own sexist bias. Likewise, Southern and decolonial feminists continue problematizing many theoretical and conceptual elements of mainstream/Northern feminist approaches. [17]

How can scholars craft relationships of trust and mutual learning between these epistemic, theoretical, and methodological traditions? Are we willing to relearn, and transform our ways of doing research in conversation with each other? The goal of the cross-methodological conversation and bridging that I am proposing here is not to create a reductionist general theory of engaged research, nor to promote some sort of mixed-method approach, but to *learn from each other's struggles, insights, challenges, and desires*. A dialogue between these scholars and traditions should pay special attention to what they share, without denying, threatening, or dismissing what is singular and specific about them. It should be an opportunity for them to further explore the questions of *knowledge for what, for whom, and with whom*; and to advance "their quest for a distinctive epistemological foundation" (PEARCE, 2008, p.4). [18]

A fundamental goal of researchers working within this heterogeneous *ecology of action research methodologies*, including collaborative ethnography, is precisely "to affirm and nurture other knowledges and other ways of producing knowledge" (ARRIBAS LOZANO et al., 2020, p.13), widening what is thinkable and feasible, the limits of imagination and praxis in research. [19]

4. The Question of Relevance in Social Movement Research

The relevance of academic work to our research subjects is a recurring concern for many, certainly not all, social movement scholars. What does it mean today, in practical terms, to generate movement-relevant theory? Allegedly, "relevance" was a key driver for the articulation of social movement studies (SMS) as a field of study in the first place. The genealogy of the canon-building US perspective, which would eventually become hegemonic, is well known. Activists involved in different social movements during the 1960s and 1970s—civil rights movement, anti-war and anti-imperialist movements, student and feminist movements—entered academia challenging the dominant analysis of collective action, understood at that time primarily as a sign of social anomie and/or individual deviation (McADAM, 2003). For these scholars, academic work was somehow a continuation of political commitment; it was a particular type of political engagement in itself. [20]

However counterintuitive this may seem today, SMS emerged out of the messy connection, rather than separation, between theory and practice, the fertile tension between knowledge production and activism. It was only later, in line with the changes taking place in many other dimensions of social and academic life in the US and beyond, that most scholars working in the field started to lose this connection to reality and retreated into scholastic forms of representation. In this process, "the issue of relevance receded for many practitioners, and a much more 'professional' and 'disciplinary' definition of purpose came to the fore" (FLACKS, 2004, p.136). [21]

As a result, but also a precondition, of its increasing professionalization, SMS scholars gradually disconnected themselves from dialogue with social movements, ruling out the exploration of jointly defined questions and problems. This process gave way to what Alberto MELUCCI (1989, p.195) termed "the world academic market in the field of social movement research" with its gatekeepers and challengers, power relations and disciplinary closure mechanisms, and the struggles over the definition/classification of what counts as proper knowledge and valid theory. Scholarship, particularly in the Global North, became largely self-referential, framed primarily around sub-disciplinary questions and debates between and within contending theoretical paradigms (COX & FLESHER, 2009; CROTEAU, HOYNES & RYAN, 2005). Social movement scholars started speaking to and writing for other academics, producing theory that, for the most part, "converts activism into yet another deactivated intellectual product" (GREENWOOD, 2008, p.333), and that tends to be perceived by movement participants as trivial, distant, and irrelevant (BEVINGTON & DIXON, 2005; MEYER, 2005). [22]

At this point, I think that some clarification is needed. The field of SMS is an atypical academic space. There are specialized academic journals; international networks and conferences; to some extent a recognizable history/genealogy; resources and grants to undertake research; university departments and academic programs; shared (or contested) concepts, evolving paradigms, and

sophisticated approaches; and a rich body of literature on social movements past and present. However, at the same time, social movement research takes place across a multiplicity of academic (as well as non-academic) sites beyond the disciplinary borders of SMS taken as a field (COX, 2018), often showing a greater disposition to dialogue and exchange between scholars and activists, a major centrality of activists' interests and needs, and a more explicit concern for relevance. [23]

In other words, actual social movement research is widespread, and exceeds—cannot be contained within—the canon-building space of Social Movement Studies. Many social science scholars, including those involved in the ecology of engaged research methodologies that I mentioned in the previous section, work and do research with (and for) social movements, but they are unlikely to consider themselves SMS scholars in a narrow disciplinary way. [24]

This was a confusing situation for me when I initiated my academic career. I remember how, during my PhD research with activist networks in Spain, at a point when I was reading as much canonical SMS literature as possible, one of my supervisors, a prominent feminist scholar and activist working in a social anthropology department, insisted that there were better ways for me to use my time, and far more significant literature to engage with, *especially* if I intended my project to be relevant and useful for the activists I was working with. [25]

Many social movement studies scholars have emphasized the importance of ethnography in the analysis of contentious politics (AUYERO, 2006, 2021; PLOWS, 2008; SALMAN & ASSIES, 2010; SCHATZ, 2009; TILLY, 2006). However, the questions that guide SMS ethnographic research are the "What, How, and Why" (FU & SIMMONS, 2021, p.1695) of collective action. Through these questions, researchers seek to respond to the intra-disciplinary problems and debates that structure the field, and to advance or modify existing theoretical or analytical frameworks. Within this context, the issue of extra-academic relevance is secondary¹. [26]

Meanwhile, collaborative ethnographers, and engaged researchers at large, often located outside or on the margins of SMS disciplinary borders, prioritize the questions of *knowledge for what, for whom, and with whom* (ARRIBAS LOZANO, 2018a, 2018b), and organize research around the problems, questions, and interests posed by their co-researchers. Certainly, engaged scholars address the *what, how,* and *why* dimensions of collective action, but they do so from a different angle, always in connection to their primary concern, trying to generate a

The lack of relevance is not the only critique made of SMS. There is a growing concern that SMS remains primarily modeled on the historical experience of collective action in the West, the post-industrial liberal democratic societies in which its dominant paradigms originated. Northern-centric approaches are ill-equipped to grasp the specificities of social movements rooted in the Global South, where colonialism and post-colonial state-formation influenced the emergence of particular forms of social mobilization (FADAEE, 2017), cultures of activism, and distinct "social movement landscapes" (VON HOLDT & NAIDOO, 2019, p.170). Furthermore, the Global North constitutes the epicenter of SMS scholarship (MacSHEOIN, 2016), which fails to engage and integrate conceptual and theoretical innovations being produced by Southern scholars (ALTMANN, DEMIRHISAR & MATI, 2016).

"movement-relevant approach to theory that puts the needs of social movements at its heart" (BEVINGTON & DIXON, 2005, p.186; see also CHESTERS, 2012; HALE, 2008). [27]

As an example, I am currently involved in the Movement Learning Catalyst (MLC) project, created as a collaboration between three pan-European activist training networks—the ULEX Project, the European Community Organizing Network, and European Alternatives—, and activist scholars and researchers from the National University of Ireland Maynooth. The goal is to produce research leading to the design of a formal year-long training course, as well as open-access learning resources for activist communities, civil society organizations, and popular educators across Europe. [28]

The MLC involves extensive research on social movement learning needs, which will be developed between all the partners involved. This will include secondary data analysis; interviews and focus groups with experienced activists and educators across the continent; and a "community of inquiry" with external advisers helping us think through this project/process and contributing to shape the research itself in a dynamic way. These elements will feed into the remaining elements of the project: the elaboration of a competency framework, the knowledge and skills to be acquired by activists; a curriculum, translating those knowledge and skills into something learnable in a systematic way; resources for blended learning, working within popular, participatory, and community education frameworks; and finally, a year-long blended learning pilot course, residential and online, with 50-60 participants, which is both part of the research and also a concrete project outcome enabling practical learning. The resources produced within the MLC will be made available open-access for social movements' use. The course will offer space for activists to reflect on their own movement and its practice; training will be geared towards developing strategic thinking and the skills needed for cross-movement, transversal/intersectional, and translocal/transnational alliance building. [29]

To conclude this section, I would like to emphasize that there is no extrasituational definition of "relevance," a notion which can mean different things for different social movements and scholars. What counts as useful or relevant in any given research situation must be mutually defined, and recursively discussed, among all parties involved in a research project/process. There exists a wide diversity of ways in which scholars can contribute to social movements, from attracting funding to participating in training activities, strategic litigation, networking, and so forth. However, throughout this paper I focus on the contributions that may emerge in the process of collective analysis and knowledge co-production itself, proposing collaborative frameworks as a privileged way to address the question of relevance in social movement research. [30]

5. Key Dimensions and Challenges in Collaborative Research

I will now outline eight dimensions that, without claiming to be exhaustive, systematize the main elements/challenges/tensions which need to be considered when embarking on research collaboration. These dimensions are interconnected, they are closely intertwined in practice, and must be understood and explored in relation to each other. The aim of this section/systematization is to help scholars develop a richer and more complex analysis of collaborative research methodologies, highlighting key elements that will facilitate or hinder the co-production of knowledge with our co-researchers. [31]

Rather than conceptualizing collaboration as a programmatic ideal, I think we should pay more attention to how it takes place, or fails to take place, in and across actual research situations, exploring both their achievements and the limitations faced along the process. Thus, instead of presenting decontextualized celebratory (or derogatory) accounts of collaborative research, it is important to make explicit how some undertakings go further than others in terms of codefinition of the research project, or regarding the process of co-analysis and cotheorization; how projects manage to combine collaborative and conventional moments and techniques; the tensions caused by the diverging expectations coming from the academic field and the research collaborators; or the multiplicity of forms in which collaboration, whether successful or not, is currently being shaped in real fieldwork encounters. [32]

5.1 Collaboration, experimentation, and research as an artisanal and situated praxis

The first element that must be mentioned is that collaborative social science research is a contextual praxis, not a normative one. How does collaboration materialize in practice? How are project-related decisions made, negotiated, and rearranged between scholars and their collaborators? How can research goals be jointly defined and reformulated? What methods or techniques are being designed, tested, and implemented to facilitate collaboration? Comparing responses to these questions across collaborative projects, moving from case study description to a more analytical standpoint, we observe that a key element shared in practice is, precisely, the inclination towards methodological experimentation. These undertakings seek to engage in and respond to the particularities (tensions, challenges, and opportunities) of the diverse contexts in which they are rooted. As a result, every research situation will demand and produce its own methods. [33]

Collaborative research with social movements is an artisanal, situated, slow, messy, dynamic, and creative engagement/relationship with our partners for the co-production of knowledge. Since every project is unique, the method is never given in advance, it is assembled and reassembled in dialogue, not always smoothly, in/through the fieldwork encounter. There is therefore no room for pre-existing standardized procedures, no rule or recipe book to be generally applied as the "right" way to collaborate in research. This will allow us to see more clearly

the relative *messiness and heterogeneity of research practices* (LAW, 2004) beyond official—hygienic, reassuring, neat, coherent, sanitized—accounts of method. When it comes to specific methods, techniques, and tools to be deployed, *the research situation is sovereign* and must be understood and attended to correspondingly. [34]

Within this framework, some projects will resignify and rework/adjust existing ethnographic methods, e.g., in-depth interviews, participant observation, or focus groups, as part of the process of collaboration and knowledge co-production, often combining both conventional and experimental techniques along the process (ÁLVAREZ VEINGUER, GARCÍA & OLMOS, 2022; DIETZ & MATEOS CORTÉS, 2020). Other projects, however, innovate by creating opportunities for collaboration around ad hoc "Fieldwork Devices" (ESTALELLA & SÁNCHEZ CRIADO, 2018), from digital archives to co-analysis workshops, comics, radio soap operas, collective writing groups, critical cartographies, media labs, or other digital or physical infrastructures, to be shaped by the circumstances of each collaborative endeavor. [35]

Experimentation is central to a collaborative imagination and praxis. Nevertheless, it must be emphasized that research collaboration with social movements is not a matter of creativity and innovation in method alone. What is most important in any collaborative project is to find (to adapt or invent) the methods—the relationships—that will help the actors involved *to think and work together*; that is, the techniques that will create appropriate conditions for coanalysis, co-conceptualization, and co-theorization to unfold, within the time and space of fieldwork, around jointly defined research problems and questions. [36]

5.2 On power and (a)symmetry: Towards logic and practices of co-decision

Collaborative knowledge production is built upon and rooted in relationships of shared authority and co-decision through the research process. A key goal is therefore to disperse power across the fieldwork encounter, to get it distributed among all the actors involved instead of keeping it concentrated primarily in the person of the academic researcher. [37]

Working and thinking together with our collaborators in jointly designed explorations implies challenging the hierarchy between "researcher" and "informant." In collaborative projects, scholars and co-researchers together define, and recursively negotiate and reassemble, what knowledge is to be produced, how, and for what purposes, as well as how its outcomes will be disseminated in various registers and for different audiences/communities. Hence fieldwork turns from being a time/space for data production, prior to and separated from the moment of analysis (an analytical step to be carried out by scholars alone), into a time/space for collective thinking, analysis, and theory co-production. [38]

Creating spaces/relations for co-decision and shared authority through the entire process means that academic researchers will have to lose/devolve/distribute a

significant share of their own control over the project; research will shift out of the hands of scholars and into the collective sphere built between scholars and coresearchers working together. As PEARCE (2008, p.18) argued,

"[c]o-production of knowledge is a less certain and controlled methodology than traditional research. This is a strength. It celebrates contingency and the unexpected, as these are indicative of a robust, sincere and democratic engagement between researcher and researched. It is not always comfortable, as planning and certainty are much more reassuring methodologies for the researcher [...] However, co-production retains the freshness of messy social reality. Researcher and the research participants embark on a journey together in which knowledge is continuously exchanged and practice developed along new lines." [39]

Academics involved in research collaboration should take this loss/redistribution of control as an opportunity rather than as a problem or a threat; shared authority and reciprocity are preconditions to substantive collaboration. Collaborative fieldwork will not prosper, regardless of our own intentions and efforts, unless research is appropriated by the social movements and/or communities we work with. As discussed above, collaboration is often an experimental, uncertain endeavor. The process of "appropriation" does not guarantee in and of itself that a project will be successful, whatever might be imagined as success in each context; but if some degree of appropriation does not take place, it will be impossible to sustain and advance collaborative proposals. [40]

This notion of appropriation may sound counterintuitive; it tends to generate strong resistance among social scientists who fear that connecting, and sometimes even subordinating, their work to the goals, interests, and demands of the "research subjects" will erode academic autonomy and analytical independence. This is a legitimate concern. However, the departure point for collaborative frameworks is precisely that shared authority, co-decision, co-analysis, and co-theorization will enrich both the social relevance and the interpretative power of our research projects. [41]

Within this approach social actors, such as the social movements I work with, participate in designing a research project that concerns them, and which they will be able to use for their own purposes, co-define its goals and methodology, and get involved in its implementation as well as in the analysis and theorization of the data produced. In this sense, the process of shared analysis and knowledge co-production will be meaningful and relevant for them, but it will also help scholars advance a richer and more complex understanding of the topic under study (ARRIBAS LOZANO, 2018a; GREENWOOD, 2000). [42]

5.3 The art of decentering oneself: The role of the scholar in collaborative projects

Cultivating a relationship of shared authority, co-decision, and reciprocity across fieldwork with research partners (knowledge producers in their own right) will fundamentally transform the role of the scholar. The notion of *thinking together* around jointly defined problems seeks to capture this reality, in which the academic will move from "expert" to facilitator, translator, or other possibilities to be delimited in each research project; experts immersed in a field of experts, who learn and unlearn by accompanying their collaborators, and by being accompanied by them, in a context of dialogical reflexivity and experimental collaboration for knowledge co-production. Within this context, scholars operate as *rearguard intellectuals* (SANTOS, 2018), constantly translating and generating connections between academic and non-academic knowledges. [43]

In this sense, for collaboration to be possible and real, the role/position of *the scholar needs to be decentered*. Navigating collaborative projects, collective undertakings which are not just "ours" anymore, requires a particular disposition, attention, sensibility, imagination, ethos—a specific way of inhabiting research. It is crucial to overcome the fiction that academics are the only actors invested with the skills, knowledge, and authority—the expertise—needed for the systematic and complex analysis and representation of contemporary worlds. Thus, scholars must be willing to question their methodological and analytical automatisms, and to unlearn/undo their academic authority and privilege, in order to negotiate, modify, and—when necessary—subordinate their own goals, plans, and expectations to those of their co-researchers. [44]

For scholars trained to believe that their disciplinary/scientific knowledge is more valid and true than other types of knowledge, the idea of decentering oneself generates anxiety. It opens a space of vulnerability that the fiction of being "the expert" somehow managed to hide. However, as I mentioned above, the appropriation of the project by the co-researchers, together with the decentering on the part of the scholar, are precisely the processes that will allow for collaboration to take place in research contexts. [45]

Within collaborative projects, scholars are likely to feel out of joint. Vulnerability and anxiety are common tropes when it comes to the emotions that can arise for researchers in/through the experience of undertaking ethnographic fieldwork (BEHAR, 1997; DELLA ROCCA, 2019; MEADOW, 2018). I believe, however, that research collaboration triggers specific forms of vulnerability and anxiety, linked first and foremost to the notions and practices of co-decision, co-analysis, and co-theorization. [46]

Often, when discussing collaborative frameworks, I have encountered the idea—put forward by different groups, mostly, but not only, by less experienced scholars—of "disappearing" as researchers. This image comes up sometimes as a normative ideal, the goal to be accomplished in/through "truly" engaged research: becoming *equal* to our collaborators, being seen/considered as *just one of them*.

In other occasions, such an image emerges as the fear of losing autonomy, the unwelcome possibility that our intellectual contribution will be restrained, limited, repressed, or denied by our partners. I find both positions problematic. [47]

My argument is that the fact that scholars need to decenter themselves, does not mean that they should *disappear* as researchers. Rather, we must imagine and test situated practices of *co-presence* (ARRIBAS LOZANO, 2020) together with our research collaborators. This *co-presence* will be shaped in different ways according to the characteristics of each project, generating in turn new, more creative, possibilities for collective thought and action. [48]

5.4 Scales of relevance and responsibility: Standing inside/outside academia

This dimension encourages scholars to discuss the contribution of collaborative projects inside academia, the ways in which existing knowledge advanced through conceptual and theoretical innovation, as well as outside academia, the relevance to the goals and concerns of our co-researchers. What form did *relevance* take in each project? How was it negotiated and transformed along the process? Were there any tensions/contradictions between academic and non-academic demands? What does it mean for a collaborative project to be successful, or to fail? Who should assess the quality and impact of research collaboration? [49]

Collaborative research speaks simultaneously to communities located inside and outside academia, being accountable to both contexts. Facing the diverging, sometimes contradictory, expectations and demands coming both from the academic field and from our co-researchers, including the different types of validation involved, engaged scholars usually find themselves in an awkward position. For instance, those of us doing sociological work know only too well how disciplinary closure mechanisms privilege professional sociology over other types of sociological praxis; knowledge co-production with non-academic actors is received at best with skepticism, regarded in advance as *never good enough* social science. For this reason, a more fluid dialogue and greater complicity are needed across different traditions of engaged research. Alliances, expanded communities, and kinder/safer spaces need to be built inside, and outside, academia if we aspire to affirm, create, and nurture *other knowledges and other ways of producing knowledge*. [50]

In a previous section, I provided the example of the 'Movement Learning Catalyst' project, illustrating what such safer spaces for collaboration between academic and non-academic actors (and knowledges) may look like in practice. Regarding the relevance of collaborative research to the social movements/communities we work with, I would like to emphasize again that the meanings and materializations of *relevance* cannot be defined outside each particular/concrete/situated project. There is no standardized overarching approach to relevance. Collaborative undertakings rooted in different contexts, and involving distinct actors, will generate specific responses. Moreover, what is conceived as *relevant* within a

project is likely to change as the research unfolds. The forms of relevance are to be collectively defined, negotiated, and reassembled between all the actors involved. [51]

In the work I did with PRATEC, relevance materialized mainly through the elaboration of a non-academic open-access publication based on my research (ARRIBAS LOZANO, 2021), a material currently being used by PRATEC in workshops and other teaching and learning activities they carry out across the Andean region. I also participated, and continue participating, in many in-person and online workshops with PRATEC and the NACAs; furthermore, I have kept collaborating with them in a number of ways after the completion of my project. However, the publication mentioned above is a most important element in relation to the purpose of this article; several PRATEC members—former PRATEC presidents, Jorge ISHIZAWA and Gladys FAIFFER; and one of the founders of the organization in the 1980s, Grimaldo RENGIFO—kindly guided me through the process of translating academic results into non-academic registers. They peerreviewed the whole manuscript in order to ensure that this material would be useful for non-academic audiences, in particular for community-based and civil society organizations and school teachers involved in intercultural education programs. [52]

In my project with grassroots social movement networks in Spain, the ODS activists put forward two distinct understandings and levels of relevance: on the one hand, the *research taken as a product*, the opportunity to systematize and disseminate the project findings as a text, or a group of texts, about the experience/history/memory of this political community; on the other hand, *research taken as a process*, which refers to the daily implementation of the project, the actual unfolding of collaboration. Here, the activists pointed to different elements, ranging from the reflective moment afforded by in-depth ethnographic interviews, taken as a much needed pause in the frantic rhythm/urgency of grassroots activism, to the possibility of circulating all project-related materials inside the network, so that each node could use them for its own purposes, or to the joint design and implementation of the co-analysis and co-theorization workshops that were eventually conducted across the network (ARRIBAS LOZANO, 2018a). [53]

5.5 Who wants to collaborate in research? Proposal, trust, access

To build and sustain a collaborative project/process, there must be a relation of mutual trust between the actors involved. Trust may emerge from long-term involvement or rootedness, or a solid partnership with a network, organization, or community (RAPPAPORT, 2008). Trust can also be based and built upon a sense of shared objectives, and a common or convergent agenda, between scholars and co-researchers. However, these two elements, long-term relationships and a shared agenda, are not always the starting point for our projects. [54]

How did our collaborative project begin? Who took the initiative to set up collaboration in research? Did scholars first approach the social movement or community, or was it the other way around? Schematically, it can be said that there are four models which tend to overlap and become more complex in practice, in/through which collaboration is currently being put to work in research. [55]

First there are non-academic actors who, as part of their own projects and struggles, autonomously conduct research on their own terms, knowledge-practices of various types, and who invite a scholar (or group of scholars) they already know/trust to work with them around a particular problem or question. The social movement or community actors take the lead, inviting the academic researcher to work with them—to think together—in a project/process that emerges directly connected to their needs and goals. Scholars will become immersed in a reflexive endeavor that was already in progress, contributing their knowledge and skills to a collective undertaking. In other words, academic researchers put themselves at the service of the social movement/community within a context of critical dialogue, shared authority, and joint analysis and theorization. To a great extent, this is the ideal collaborative situation. [56]

Second, the initiative can come from scholars rooted in a social movement or community, who decide to carry out a research project useful to their partners' organizational efforts. Though the idea comes from the academic researcher, every aspect of the project will be negotiated and agreed, jointly designed, and implemented together with the non-academic actors. In this sense, knowledge coproduction will be easier when scholars have "an organic relationship, prior histories, and prior trust" with the co-researchers (PEARCE, 2008, p.19). [57]

Third, scholars approach social movements or communities with the intention of undertaking a conventional/traditional project, and the non-academic actors "appropriate" the project and force, or invite, the scholar to articulate a more collaborative process that might be relevant and beneficial for their own organizational purposes. In this case, projects will not progress unless the scholars are willing to decenter themselves and to connect their goals to those of the non-academic actors (ESTALELLA & SÁNCHEZ CRIADO, 2020). This is an increasingly common situation; today, those actors usually conceived as "research subjects" expect, and explicitly demand, greater control over the purpose, the process, and the products of research. [58]

Fourth, scholars who are not rooted in, and have little (if any) previous relation with a social movement or community, approach non-academic actors with a more or less elaborate proposal to carry out a collaborative research project. In this scenario, the relationships and trust required for knowledge co-production must be built from scratch. Here, the scholar needs to convince the social movement or community to "appropriate" a project that is not initially connected to —and therefore, does not respond to—their organizational goals, needs or concerns. Along these lines, Dani Wadada NABUDERE has pointed to the fact that many organizations, social movements, and communities develop a deep mistrust, a sort of *research fatigue* because,

"[t]hey had seen researchers come and go while their own conditions had steadily worsened. This suggested to them, with some justification, that the researchers were part of their problem. To what extent could 'activist researchers' be trusted to be different from earlier researchers who had established a relationship of domination over them and had expropriated their knowledge?" (2008, p.79) [59]

Is it possible to work and think together when there is no prior relationship of mutual trust, when scholars are not rooted in, or do not share objectives with, the communities with which they want to do research? Can collaboration be activated —can a "collaborative turn" take place—in research situations in which this was not initially a shared purpose, horizon, imagination? [60]

5.6 On representation: Who eventually gets to write about whom?

Explorations in knowledge co-production often trigger experimentation in writing, authorship, and dissemination, bringing forth a multiplicity of creative arrangements, in a variety of genres, registers, and channels/media, directed to distinct audiences inside and outside academia, and grounded in the specific characteristics of each research situation. [61]

Collaboration between academic and non-academic actors—our co-researchers—inspires and prompts a plurality of ways of "writing" ethnography beyond standard scholarly articles or monographs. Depending on the specific goals of a project, research findings (either in a final version, or as a work in progress, a prototype) may translate into audio-visual materials, radio programs, popular theater, workshops, training programs, community maps and/or calendars, critical cartographies, music, photographs and exhibitions, institutional innovations, graphic stories, media labs, communal museums, public policy recommendations, collective archives, murals, poetry, curriculum materials and other educational resources, and so forth. It is noteworthy that most of these examples come from the research projects included in the volume mentioned previously (ÁLVAREZ VEINGUER et al., 2020). [62]

This multiplicity of ways of "writing" research highlights the artisanal, situated, and dialogical dimension of collaborative undertakings, bringing together collective imagination, thought and action. Whereas academic systems of knowledge production turn knowledge into a form of "property" owned by the researcher and, most often, by the *publishing* industry, in collaborative projects the actors involved will determine not only what knowledge is to be produced, but also what knowledge can (or cannot) be disseminated and used, by whom, for what purposes, and how (FALS BORDA & RAHMAN, 1991; NABUDERE, 2008). [63]

In collaborative research, the elaboration of these non-academic products is conceived as a key part of the process/relationship of knowledge production. It is not simply a matter of reporting or devolving the research results in more creative or accessible ways. Rather, the collective thinking and doing that takes place, for instance in/through defining the roles and the plot in a graphic story or a theater play, in systematizing the information to be included in a community map or

calendar, or in navigating together the process of taking and selecting the pictures for an exhibition, are understood as a fundamental dimension of research (VASCO URIBE, 2011). [64]

It is generally understood, and agreed upon as part of the process, that any collaborative research will generate different outcomes aimed at different contexts. Not every research outcome can be expected to be useful for all the actors involved. In my own experience, my academic articles were of little use to the activists I worked with. In turn, these activists used the research materials (i.e., the transcriptions of interviews and co-analysis workshops) for their own purposes, in ways and situations in which I was not involved at all, and that cannot be easily translated into academic logic. However, there are also projects in which the main academic outcome is itself collaboratively created. This is the case of monographs where scholars and co-researchers work together intertwining different contributions, experiences, voices and formats, giving rise to polyphonic representations that address both academic and non-academic audiences (FIELD, 2008; LASSITER et al., 2020). [65]

5.7 Diverging temporalities: The art of weaving and sustaining collaboration

This dimension is almost self-explanatory; it does not need much elaboration, yet it is crucial. It poses a twofold challenge. On the one hand, collaborative research needs time. It demands a strong commitment to long-term dialogue that is not always possible for scholars (RAPPAPORT, 2008)—the slow unfolding of collaboration fits uneasily into the accelerated pace of neoliberal academia and funding agencies. Time is needed to build a relationship of trust and complicity among the actors involved; to co-define the purpose and the structure of the project; to nurture and sustain dialogue and collaboration at every step of the process; to listen carefully to each other, and to learn to think and work together; to co-create the methods to be implemented, and to reassess and modify them when necessary; to adjust to unexpected biographical or contextual/societal events; to craft the moment and rhythm of co-analysis and co-theorization; to negotiate the expected outcomes, and to decide how best to present and disseminate them; to digest potential conflicts that may arise, and to celebrate those occasions when everything turns out well. [66]

Research collaboration cannot be rushed. This is a process-oriented, artisanal, experimental, non-linear, slow social science. It takes time for collaboration to unfold properly, a time that cannot be defined or controlled in advance. For this reason, not all projects can be collaborative; we must explain to our students, and sometimes also to our colleagues, that if they only have six months to undertake a project, then collaboration is not the right choice—no matter how enthusiastic they might feel about it. [67]

The point that I am trying to make here is not that longer periods of time will allow for better, more intense collaboration. Rather, my argument is that the timeline of collaborative projects cannot be determined in advance. In most approaches to qualitative research, scholars hold a great deal of control over the whole project design, including the definition of deadlines for planned activities and expected outcomes. Thus, within the limits set by the research funding agencies, scholars get to decide what to do and when to do it. There is always room for minor adjustments along the way, but it takes a major contingency—for instance, a global pandemic—for research plans and timelines to be modified in any substantive manner. [68]

Conversely, within collaborative frameworks, due to the characteristics detailed throughout this article, academics will not be able to unilaterally predefine the timeline, the core activities, or the expected outcomes of a project. These elements—provided that collaboration is taken seriously—have to be collectively defined along the research process. Also, the fact that every dimension of a project is open to further assessment, negotiation, and reshaping between all the actors involved, means that research plans can, and surely will, undergo substantive changes along the way—modifying existing provisional timelines. As a consequence, it is never clear when collaboration will end. Thus, scholars involved in collaborative ethnography must often find a way to sustain research collaboration, and continue working together with the co-researchers, once external funding has stopped (ÁLVAREZ VEINGUER et al., 2022). [69]

On the other hand, a second challenge concerning the link between time and collaborative research is the fact that academic and non-academic actors face, and need to respond to, their own different, often divergent, time demands and constraints. For instance, working with social movements, there is often a mismatch between the urgency of activism, the need to respond immediately to rapid changes in a given situation (evictions, the passing of a law, deportations, police violence; or, more optimistically, the unexpected outburst of a wave of mobilization and protest), and the slower, hesitant pace of academic research, collaborative or otherwise. Frequently, social movements would like to see results much faster than what scholarly research can yield. Conversely, the undisciplined nature of social movements is often a concern for scholars when it comes to research planning and resource management, deadlines set by funding agencies, or university internal guidelines, [70]

5.8 Is it possible to collaborate with every kind of actor/group/community?

According to Joanne RAPPAPORT (2008), good collaborative research largely depends on three factors. I have already mentioned two of them: a degree of mutual trust between the actors, and the researcher's commitment to long-term dialogue. On top of these, following RAPPAPORT, research collaboration demands a group of interlocutors who can, and who are willing to, take the lead in the co-analysis and co-theorization process. [71]

Thus, it will be easier to articulate collaborative relationships when we work with subjects that are constituted as a group/organization prior to the research, and when these actors operate (at least, to some extent) as reflexive/epistemic communities, collectively producing knowledge based on their own experience and practice. Although this is not always the case, because different actors have

distinct relations to knowledge, many contemporary social movements understand and conduct research, broadly conceived, as a key element of their praxis, using approaches and tools which resemble, and creatively adjust, those of social science scholars. They exercise what HOLMES and MARCUS (2008, p.82) termed as "para-ethnography," rich and critical registers, descriptions, and explanations of their own worlds and organizational cultures. [72]

This was the case in the research projects I undertook with urban social movement networks in Spain, and with Andean and Amazonian community-based organizations in Peru. Both actors, despite their many differences, understood collective reflection and analysis, research, and the production and dissemination of knowledge, as key elements of their praxis. They generate knowledge that 1. is based upon their own experience, lives, and struggles; 2. is the product of collective doing, thinking, and learning; and 3. seeks to open new possibilities for thought and action, virtuous cycles between practice and theory to further transform/recreate praxis. Working with this kind of actors, who autonomously advance their own knowledge-practices, may facilitate the process of *thinking together*, as well as the *collaborative analytics* that characterize this framework. [73]

Nevertheless, research collaboration can also thrive in other contexts, and with very different actors. For instance, Angel L. LARA (2018) worked with Mexican women who migrated to New York in a collaborative ethnography that revolved around the collective creation of a radio soap. These women did not constitute a group before the project, and as a result, they were not a reflexive/epistemic community either; however, through fictional storytelling, the scholar and the coresearchers have been able to explore, analyze, and subvert, mainstream representations of Mexican female migration in United States. Here, the research process itself created both the group and the possibility for thinking together—a situation which presented its own challenges with regard to building and sustaining collaboration. As I emphasized throughout this article, each project is unique, and must be imagined and engaged accordingly. [74]

6. Conclusion

Not all research has to be collaborative; different kinds of knowledge, and different approaches to knowledge production are relevant for certain circumstances, and not for others. The various dimensions presented in this article are chosen, precisely, to facilitate an empirically grounded, non-normative, and non-dogmatic debate/dialogue on the challenges and opportunities of research collaboration. [75]

For this purpose, I have shared my own research experience, in conversation with other studies, highlighting several elements that may facilitate or hinder collaboration in research, and that must be taken into account by those scholars interested in exploring collaborative frameworks: questions of writing and representation; the role of the scholar in collaborative projects; the experimental and contextual ethos regarding methods and outcomes; the significance of time;

elements of power, shared authority and co-decision in/through research; the tension between academic and extra-academic relevance; the characteristics of the actors we work with, and their connection, or lack of it, to knowledge production; the connection between trust, access and collaboration; or dialogue and cross-fertilization among traditions of engaged research. Exploring these dimensions, and the relations between them will help scholars transform their ethnographic imaginations and practices—learning with and from other social actors. [76]

Social scientists need to rethink what for, how, for whom, and with whom we do research. My argument is that a collaborative framework/horizon is worth exploring if we aspire to create social movement research that might matter beyond academic sites and communities (MEYER, 2005). Exercising this imagination/sensibility and connecting research to existing collective struggles will not only enhance the "political" relevance of academic work. The long-term dialogical engagement implied in collaborative undertakings will also advance scholarly knowledge in significant, often unexpected, ways. Let us not forget that the aim is to generate knowledge that will prove to be relevant for both the scholar and our research partners. These different elements are combined within the framework of collaborative research: an open-ended process, always in the making, in which the co-production of knowledge will inform new action that will, in turn, activate new waves of collective analysis, novel questions and research agendas. [77]

The fact that we do not impose disciplinary categories and questions on our collaborators, but instead we accompany them—we think and work with them—as they create, deploy, and transform their own maps, concepts, and analyses, as they collectively assess and redefine their own practices, will allow us to develop a more complex understanding of dimensions of contemporary collective action that would otherwise remain unobserved. We will be immersed in the time and space, the messy and heterogeneous texture and rhythm of collective action in the making, its process of formation and change, its continuities and discontinuities. Moreover—and this is a distinctive contribution of research collaboration—we will be able to generate conceptual and theoretical work of a completely different order through co-analysis and co-theorization in fieldwork. We will not simply see how social movements "pose new problems and questions, and invent and test new answers" (MELUCCI, 1989, p.208). We will be part of this very same process. [78]

References

Altmann, Philipp; Demirhisar, Deniz Günce & Mati, Jacob Mwathi (2016). Social movements in the Global South. Some theoretical considerations. *Émulations – Revue de Sciences Sociales*, 19, 7-24, https://ojs.uclouvain.be/index.php/emulations/article/view/4433/3133 [Accessed: March 12, 2022].

Álvarez Veinguer, Aurora; García, Rocío & Olmos, Antonia (2022). Methodological experiences in collaborative ethnography. Communication and participation as frameworks for constructing in common. *Qualitative Sociology Review*, *18*(1), 6-27, https://doi.org/10.18778/1733-8077.18.1.01 [Accessed: May 16, 2022].

Álvarez Veinguer, Aurora; Arribas Lozano, Alberto & Dietz, Gunther (Eds.) (2020). *Investigaciones en movimiento: Etnografías colaborativas, feministas y decoloniales* [Researching (in) movements: Collaborative, feminist and decolonial ethnographies]. Buenos Aires: Consejo Latinoamericano de Ciencias Sociales, http://biblioteca.clacso.edu.ar/clacso/se/20201216092831/Investigaciones-en-movimiento.pdf [Accessed: April 26, 2022].

Arribas Lozano, Alberto (2018a). Knowledge co-production with social movement networks. Redefining grassroots politics, rethinking research. *Social Movement Studies*, *17*(4), 451-463.

Arribas Lozano, Alberto (2018b). Reframing the public sociology debate: Towards collaborative and decolonial praxis. *Current Sociology*, 66(1), 92-109.

Arribas Lozano, Alberto (2020). Saberes en movimiento. Reciprocidad, co-presencia, análisis colectivo y autoridad compartida en investigación [Knowledge in motion. Reciprocity, co-presence, collective analysis and shared authority in research]. *Revista de Antropología Iberoamericana – AIBR*, *15*(2), 331-356, https://www.aibr.org/antropologia/netesp/numeros/1502/150207.pdf [Accessed: April 16, 2022].

Arribas Lozano, Alberto (2021). Crianza de la diversidad epistémica, interculturalidad y diálogo de saberes. Apuntes sobre el pluriverso [Nurturing epistemic diversity, interculturality and dialogue of knowledges. Notes on the pluriverse]. Lima: PRATEC, https://pratec.org/wpress/pdfs-pratec/libro-arribas-final-vp.pdf [Accessed: April 10, 2022].

Arribas Lozano, Alberto; Dietz, Gunther & Álvarez Veinguer, Aurora (2020). Producir conocimiento de otros modos. Etnografía más allá del método [Producing knowledge otherwise. Ethnography beyond method]. In Aurora Álvarez Veinguer, Alberto Arribas Lozano & Gunther Dietz (Eds.), Investigaciones en movimiento: etnografías colaborativas, feministas y decoloniales [Researching (in) movements: Collaborative, feminist and decolonial ethnographies] (pp.13-45). Buenos Aires: CLACSO, http://biblioteca.clacso.edu.ar/clacso/se/20201216092831/Investigaciones-en-movimiento.pdf [Accessed: April 26, 2022].

Auyero, Javier (2006). Introductory note to politics under the microscope: Special issue on political ethnography I. *Qualitative Sociology*, 29(3), 257-259.

Auyero, Javier (2021). Afterword. Going granular. *Qualitative Sociology*, *44*(3), 473-477, https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/s11133-021-09486-z.pdf [Accessed: April 16, 2022].

Behar, Ruth (1997). The vulnerable observer: Anthropology that breaks your heart. Boston, MA: Beacon Press.

Bevington, Douglas & Dixon, Chris (2005). Movement-relevant theory: Rethinking social movement scholarship and activism. *Social Movement Studies*, *4*(3), 185-208.

Boyer, Dominic & Marcus, George E. (Eds.) (2020). Collaborative anthropology today: A collection of exceptions. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.

Caine, Vera & Mill, Judy (2016). *Essentials of community-based research*. New York, NY: Routledge.

Chesters, Graeme (2012). Social movements and the ethics of knowledge production. *Social Movement Studies*, *11*(2), 145-160.

Chilisa, Bagele (2012). Indigenous research methodologies. Los Angeles, CA: Sage.

Collins, Patricia Hills (2019). *Intersectionality as critical social theory*. Durham: Duke University Press.

Cornish, Flora; Zittoun, Tania & Gillespie, Alex (2007). A cultural psychological reflection on collaborative research. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, 8(3), Art. 21, https://doi.org/10.17169/fgs-8.3.309 [Accessed: February 6, 2022].

Cox, Laurence (2014). Movements making knowledge: A new wave of inspiration for sociology?. *Sociology*, *48*(5), 954-971.

Cox, Laurence (2018). Why social movements matter: An introduction. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield International.

Cox, Laurence & Flesher-Fominaya, Cristina (2009). Movement knowledge: What do we know, how do we create knowledge and what do we do with it?. *Interface: A Journal for and about Social Movements*, 1(1), 1-20.

Croteau, David; Hoynes, William & Ryan, Charlotte (Eds.) (2005). *Rhyming hope and history: Activists, academics and social movement scholarship.* Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press

Della Rocca, Marina (2019). Emotional vulnerability and ethnographic understanding: A collaborative research project in a women's shelter. In Thomas Stodulka, Samia Dinkelaker & Ferdiansyah Thajib (Eds.) *Affective dimensions of fieldwork and ethnography* (pp.49-62). Cham: Springer.

Dietz, Gunther & Mateos Cortés, Laura Selene (2020). Entre comunidad y universidad: Una etnografía colaborativa con jóvenes egresadas/os de una universidad intercultural Mexicana [Between community and university: A collaborative ethnography with young graduates from a Mexican intercultural university]. AIBR – Revista de Antropología Iberoamericana, 15(2), 273-299, https://www.aibr.org/antropologia/netesp/numeros/1502/150205.pdf [Accessed: March 6, 2022].

Dossa, Parin & Golubović, Jelena (2018). Community-based ethnography. In Hilary Callan (Ed.), *International encyclopaedia of anthropology* (pp.1040-1046). New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

Escobar, Arturo (1992). Culture, practice and politics: Anthropology and the study of social movements. *Critique of Anthropology*, *12*, 395-432.

Espinosa, Yuderkys; Gómez, Diana & Ochoa, Karina (Eds.) (2014). *Tejiendo de otro modo: Feminismo, epistemología y apuestas descoloniales en Abya Yala* [Knitting differently: Feminism, epistemology and decolonial proposals in Abya Yala]. Popayán: Universidad del Cauca.

Estalella, Adolfo & Sánchez Criado, Tomás (Eds.) (2018). Experimental collaborations: Ethnography through fieldwork devices. New York, NY: Berghahn Books.

Estalella, Adolfo & Sánchez Criado, Tomás (2020). Acompañantes epistémicos: La invención de la colaboración etnográfica [Epistemic partners: The invention of ethnographic collaboration]. In Aurora Álvarez Veinguer, Alberto Arribas Lozano & Gunther Dietz (Eds.), *Investigaciones en movimiento: etnografías colaborativas, feministas y decoloniales* [Researching (in) movements: Collaborative, feminist and decolonial ethnographies] (pp.113-143). Buenos Aires: CLACSO, http://biblioteca.clacso.edu.ar/clacso/se/20201216092831/Investigaciones-en-movimiento.pdf [Accessed: April 6, 2022].

Fadaee, Simin (2017). Bringing in the South: Towards a global paradigm for social movement studies. *Interface: Journal for and about Social Movements*, *9*(2), 45-60, http://www.interfacejournal.net/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/Interface-9-2-Fadaee.pdf [Accessed: March 6, 2022].

Fals-Borda, Orlando & Rahman, Muhammad Anisur (Eds.) (1991). Action and knowledge—Breaking the monopoly with participatory action-research. New York, NY: Apex Press.

Field, Les W. (2008). Abalone tales: Collaborative explorations of sovereignty and identity in Native California. Durham: Duke University Press.

Flacks, Richard (2004). Knowledge for what? Thoughts on the state of social movement studies. In Jeff Goodwin & James M. Jasper (Eds.), Rethinking social movements: Structure, meaning, and emotion (pp.135-153). Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield International.

Fu, Diana & Simmons, Erica (2021). Ethnographic approaches to contentious politics: The what, how, and why. *Comparative Political Studies*, *54*(10), 1695-1721.

Graeber, David (2009). Direct action: An ethnography. Oakland, CA: AK Press.

Greenwood, Davydd J. (2000). De la observación a la investigación-acción participativa: una visión crítica de las prácticas antropológicas [From observation to participatory action-research: A critical review of anthropological practice]. *Revista de Antropología Social*, 9, 27-49, https://revistas.ucm.es/index.php/RASO/article/view/RASO0000110027A/9940 [Accessed: March 22, 2022].

Greenwood, Davydd J. (2008). Theoretical research, applied research, and action research. The deinstitutionalization of activist research. In Charles R. Hale (Ed.), *Engaging contradictions: Theory*,

politics, and methods of activist scholarship (pp.319-340). Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.

Grosfoguel, Ramón (2020). Epistemic extractivism: A dialogue with Alberto Acosta, Leanne Betasamosake Simpson, and Silvia Rivera Cusicanqui. In Boaventura de Sousa Santos & María Paula Meneses (Eds.), *Knowledges born in the struggle. Constructing the epistemologies of the Global South* (pp.203-218). New York, NY: Routledge.

Hale, Charles R. (Ed.) (2008). *Engaging contradictions: Theory, politics, and methods of activist scholarship*. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press, https://escholarship.org/uc/item/7z63n6xr [Accessed: April 10, 2022].

Hall, Budd L. (1992). From margins to center? The development and purpose of participatory research. *The American Sociologist*, 23, 15-28.

Hall, Budd L. (2005). In from the cold? Reflections on participatory research 1970-2005. *Convergence*, *38*(1), 5-24.

Haraway, Donna (1988). Situated knowledges: The science question in feminism and the privilege of partial perspective. *Feminist Studies*, 14(3), 575-599.

Harding, Sandra G. (Ed.) (1987). Feminism and methodology. Bloomington, IN: Indiana University Press.

Holmes, Douglas R. & Marcus, George E. (2008). Collaboration today and the re-imagination of the classic scene of fieldwork encounter. *Collaborative Anthropologies*, *1*, 81-101.

Israel, Barbara A.; Schulz, Amy J.; Parker, Edith A. & Becker, Adam B. (1998). Review of community-based research: Assessing partnership approaches to improve public health. *Annual Review of Public Health*, *19*(1), 173-202, https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.19.1.173 [Accessed: March 16, 2022].

Juris, Jeffrey (2007). Practicing militant ethnography with the movement for global resistance in Barcelona. In Stevphen Shukaitis & David Graeber (Eds.), *Constituent imagination: Militant investigations, collective theorization* (pp.164-176). Oakland, CA: AK Press.

Juris, Jeffrey & Khasnabish, Alex (Eds.) (2013). *Insurgent encounters: Transnational activism, ethnography and the political.* Durham: Duke University Press.

Kovach, Margaret (2009). *Indigenous methodologies: Characteristics, conversations, and* contexts. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

Lamphere, Louise (2004). The convergence of applied, practicing and public anthropology in the 21st century. *Human Organization – Society for Applied Anthropology*, 63(4), 431-443.

Lara, Angel L. (2018). A case of narrative socioanalysis in New York City: From the being who knows to the loving construction of knowledges. *Collaborative Anthropologies*, *11*(1), 19-47.

Lassiter, Luke Eric (2008). Moving past public anthropology and doing collaborative research. *NAPA Bulletin*, 29(1), 70-86.

Lassiter, Luke Eric; Hoey, Brian A. & Campbell, Elizabeth (Eds.) (2020). *I'm afraid of that water: A collaborative ethnography of a West Virginia water crisis*. Morgantown, VA: West Virginia University Press.

Law, John (2004). After method. Mess in social science research. New York, NY: Routledge.

Leyva, Xochitl & Speed, Shannon (2008). Hacia la investigación descolonizada: nuestra experiencia de co-labor [Towards decolonized research: Our co-labor experience]. In Xochitl Leyva; Araceli Burguete & Shannon Speed (Eds.), *Gobernar (en) la diversidad: experiencias indígenas desde América Latina. Hacia la investigación de co-labor* [Governing (in) diversity: Indigenous undertakings from Latin America. Towards co-labor research] (pp.34-59). Mexico City: CIESAS-FLACSO.

MacSheoin, Tomás (2016). The world according to social movement journals: A preliminary mapping. *Interface: Journal for and about Social Movements*, 8(1), 181-204, http://www.interfacejournal.net/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Issue-8-1-Mac-Sheoin.pdf [Accessed: March 6, 2022].

McAdam, Doug (2003). Beyond structural analysis: Towards a more dynamic understanding of social movements. In Mario Diani & Doug McAdam (Eds.), *Social movements and networks:* Relational approaches to collective action (pp.281-298). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Meadow, Tey (2018). The mess: Vulnerability as ethnographic practice. In D'Lane Compton, Tey Meadow & Kristen Schilt (Eds.), *Other, please specify: Queer methods in sociology* (pp.154-166). Oakland, CA: University of California Press.

Melucci, Alberto (1989). Nomads of the present. Social movements and individual needs in contemporary society. London: Hutchinson.

Meyer, David S. (2005). Scholarship that might matter. In David Croteau, William Hoynes & Charlotte Ryan (Eds.), *Rhyming hope and history: Activists, academics and social movement scholarship* (pp.191-205). Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press.

Nabudere, Dani Wadada (2008). Research, activism, and knowledge production. In Charles R. Hale (Ed.), *Engaging contradictions: Theory, politics, and methods of activist scholarship* (pp.62-87). Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.

Naples, Nancy (2003). Feminism and method: Ethnography, discourse analysis, and activist research. New York, NY: Routledge.

Pearce, Jenny (2008). Making progress because we are lost: Critical reflections on the coproduction of knowledge as a methodology for researching non-governmental public action. *NGPA Working Paper Series, No.* 27, London School of Economics, UK, https://eprints.ncrm.ac.uk/id/eprint/337/ [Accessed: June 6, 2022].

Plows, Alexandra (2008). Social movements and ethnographic methodologies: An analysis using case study examples. *Sociology Compass*, *2*(5), 1523-1538.

Rahman, Muhammad Anisur & Fals Borda, Orlando (1991). A self-review of PAR. In Orlando Fals Borda & Muhammad Anisur Rahman (Eds), *Action and knowledge—Breaking the monopoly with participatory action-research* (pp.24-34). New York, NY: Apex Press.

Rappaport, Joanne (2008). Beyond participant observation: Collaborative ethnography as theoretical innovation. *Collaborative Anthropologies*, 1, 1-31.

Rappaport, Joanne (2016). Rethinking the meaning of research in collaborative relationships. *Collaborative Anthropologies*, 9(1-2), 1-31.

Rappaport, Joanne (2020). Cowards don't make history. Orlando Fals Borda and the origins of participatory action research. Durham: Duke University Press.

Riles, Annelise (2015). From comparison to collaboration: Experiments with a new scholarly and political form. *Law and Contemporary Problems*, 78(1-2), 147-183, https://scholarship.law.duke.edu/lcp/vol78/iss1/7/ [Accessed: March 24, 2022].

Salman, Ton & Assies, Willem (2010). Anthropology and the study of social movements. In Bert Klandermans & Conny Roggeband (Eds.), *Handbook of social movements across disciplines* (pp.205-265). New York, NY: Springer.

Santos, Boaventura de Sousa (2018). The end of the cognitive empire: The coming of age of Epistemologies of the South. Durham: Duke University Press.

Schatz, Edward (Ed.) (2009). *Political ethnography: What immersion contributes to the study of power*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Shukaitis, Stevphen & Graeber, David (Eds.) (2007). Constituent imagination: Militant investigations, collective theorization. Oakland, CA: AK Press.

Smith, Linda Tuhiwai (1999). *Decolonizing methodologies: Research and indigenous peoples.* London: Zed Books.

Speed, Shannon (2008). Forged in dialogue toward a critically engaged activist research. In Charles R. Hale (Ed.), *Engaging contradictions: Theory, politics, and methods of activist scholarship* (pp.213-236). Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.

Stanley, Liz (Ed.) (1990). Feminist praxis: Research, theory, and epistemology in feminist sociology. New York, NY: Routledge.

Stengers, Isabelle (2015). *In catastrophic times. Resisting the coming barbarism.* Open Humanities Press, Meson Press, http://openhumanitiespress.org/books/download/Stengers_2015_In-Catastrophic-Times.pdf [Accessed: March 16, 2022].

Tilly, Charles (2006). Afterword: Political ethnography as art and science. *Qualitative Sociology*, 29(3), 409-412.

Vasco Uribe, Luis Guillermo (2011). Rethinking fieldwork and ethnographic writing. *Collaborative Anthropologies*, *4*, 18-66.

FQS 23(3), Art. 13, Alberto Arribas Lozano: Collaborative Ethnography With Social Movements: Key Dimensions and Challenges

Von Holdt, Karl & Naidoo, Prishani (2019). Mapping movement landscapes in South Africa. *Globalizations*, *16*(2), 170-185.

Von Köppen, Marilena; Kümpers, Susanne & Hahn, Daphne (2022). Co-production of knowledge and dialogue: A reflective analysis of the space between academic and lay co-researchers in the early stages of the research process. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 23(1), Art. 3, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-23.1.3726 [Accessed: March 24, 2022].

Author

Alberto ARRIBAS LOZANO is a researcher at the Movement Learning Catalyst project. His work focuses on the intersection between collective action and the politics of knowledge production. He has conducted collaborative research with social movements and civil society organizations in Europe and Latin America, bridging theory and action in/through research.

Contact:

Alberto Arribas Lozano

Department of Adult and Community Education National University of Ireland, Maynooth School of Education, North Campus Maynooth, Co. Kildare, Ireland

E-mail: arribas.lozano.alberto@gmail.com

Citation

Arribas Lozano, Alberto (2022). Collaborative ethnography with social movements: Key dimensions and challenges [78 paragraphs]. *Forum Qualitative Socialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 23(3), Art. 13, https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-23.3.3908.